
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33

34S
35R

Mariner Books

New York  Boston

Masters of the 
Lost Land

The Untold Story of the Amazon 
and the Violent Fight for the 

World’s Last Frontier

Heriberto Araujo



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34S
35R

masters of the lost land. Copyright © 2023 by Heriberto Araujo 
Rodriguez. All rights reserved. Printed in Canada. No part of this book 
may be used or reproduced in any manner whatsoever without written 
permission except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical 
articles and reviews. For information, address HarperCollins Publishers, 
195 Broadway, New York, NY 10007.

HarperCollins books may be purchased for educational, business, or sales 
promotional use. For information, please email the Special Markets De-
partment at SPsales@harpercollins.com.

first edition

Designed by Emily Snyder
Title page photograph © Photo Smoothies/Shutterstock
Map by Nick Springer

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data has been applied for.

ISBN 978-0-06-302426-7

23  24  25  26  27    FRI    10  9  8  7  6  5  4  3  2  1



The Brazilian Amazon in Pará state.
Heriberto Araujo



The party that raided the Te-Chaga-U, including Dezinho (in striped T-shirt), 
Zé Geraldo (in red shirt), and Gil (in ski mask and white hood).  Police of Pará

Human remains found by the police at the Te-Chaga-U.
Police of Pará

A story in Jornal do Brasil 
about the trial for the murder 
of Cavalcanti; Josélio’s photo 
is left among the headshots.   
Jornal do Brasil

The Te-Chaga-U ranch, photographed 
by the police at the time of the raid to 
find human remains.  Police of Pará



Josélio’s prison identification 
card after his conviction for 
Cavalcanti’s murder. 
Tribunal de Justiça do Espírito Santo

A Provincia do Pará report 
of the chainsaw murder 
on September 10, 1975. It 
shows the letter delivered 
to the Reises, a picture of 
the victims, and Geraldo 
showing the clothes of his 
dead brother.
A Província do Pará

Dezinho addressing landless peasants during a demonstration 
in Rondon do Pará.  Dezinho and Maria Joel’s family archive

Sindicato members attending 
a speech in Rondon do Pará, 
including Brito (to the speaker’s left 
in a light blue shirt), Dezinho (far 
left, wearing a hat), and D’Assis (to 
Dezinho’s left in a light brown shirt).
Dezinho and Maria Joel’s family archive



Dezinho and his four children (left to 
right): Joelminha, Joelson, Joelina, and 
Joélima.  Dezinho and Maria Joel’s  
family archive Maria Joel and Dezinho dancing at 

a party in Rondon do Pará.
Dezinho and Maria Joel’s family archive

Dezinho, Maria Joel, and their children at one of the last birthdays 
they celebrated together.  Dezinho and Maria Joel’s family archive

Josélio (far right) and other people photographed 
by the police of Minas Gerais, led by Detective 
Faria in the Te-Chaga-U fazenda.
Detective Antônio Carlos Correa de Faria

Demonstration by MST members to protest the arrest of Dezinho ordered by 
Judge Amorim in 1999. Dezinho is wearing a white T-shirt (left of center).
Dezinho and Maria Joel’s family archive



Gunman Pedro Alves de Silva.
Francisco Martins da Silva Filho

The casket of Pedro Alves da Silva 
before being buried in Rondon do Pará.
Francisco Martins da Silva Filho

Wanted posters for Ygoismar Mariano da Silva and Rogério de Jesus Silva 
released by the police of Pará after Dezinho’s murder.  Police of Pará

Rancher Décio José Barroso 
Nunes being interrogated by 
Brazilian lawmakers at the 
Brazilian Senate, 2006.
TV Senado

Maria Joel (center, in 
a red shirt) attending 
a meeting with 
President Lula. By her 
side, actresses Letícia 
Sabatella (wearing 
a pink blazer) and 
Camila Pitanga (in 
white).  Salete Hallack



A truck transporting crops 
through the BR-163, known as the 
“soybean highway,” Pará state.   
Heriberto Araujo

Soy silos on the Tapajos River, near the BR-163.
Heriberto Araujo

A page of Jornal do Brasil showing pro-landless and pro-fazendeiros 
demonstrations in Rondon do Pará. Below the headline, Maria Joel displays  
a poster of Dezinho.  Jornal do Brasil



José da Silva, a settler, union 
associate, and former landless 
peasant on his plot in Rondon 
do Pará.  Heriberto Araujo

Settlers and subsistence farmers transporting their crops to Rondon do Pará.
Heriberto Araujo

Shirley Cristina and Judge Gabriel Costa 
Ribeiro, before he removed her from 
office.  Archive of Judge Gabriel Costa Ribeiro

Mayor Shirley Cristina 
at her inauguration 
ceremony, 2013; third 
from right, Councilwoman 
Joelminha.
Ricardo Tavares D’Almeida

Josélio de Barros and his wife, 
Sirley, at the inauguration 
ceremony of their daughter, 
Shirley Cristina.
Ricardo Tavares D’Almeida



Maria Joel receiving the 
Human Rights Award from 
Lula, 2007.  Dezinho and 
Maria Joel’s family archive

Maria Joel testifying at the jury trial of Nunes, August 13, 2019.   
Tribunal de Justiça do Estado do Pará

Rancher Nunes at the jury trial for the murder of Dezinho, 
August 2019.  Tribunal de Justiça do Estado do Pará

Lawyer José Batista 
Gonçalves Afonso 
at the archive of the 
CPT; behind him, 
files for court cases of 
murders and a poster 
of Chico Mendes.   
Heriberto Araujo

Maria Joel Dias da Costa in front 
of the union building in Rondon 
do Pará.  Heriberto Araujo



Francisco Martins da Silva Filho, present day, at his 
home in Central Brazil.  Francisco Martins da Silva Filho

Key witness Francisco 
testifying at the jury 
trial of Nunes, August 
13, 2019.
Tribunal de Justiça do 
Estado do Pará
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A Note on Sources

This book is a work of nonfiction, and no dialogue or event is invented. 
The unfolding of events is also presented in the real chronological order.

Very few works exist on the history of Vila Rondon. Most studies 
are prepared as master’s and doctoral dissertations. Therefore, the 
backbone of my research stems from two categories of sources: the 
testimony and accounts of some two hundred interviews, mostly per-
formed by me in Rondon do Pará and other areas of Brazil, and about 
100,000 pages of documents, most of them unpublished, drawn from 
Brazilian state and federal courts, notary public offices, press clip-
pings, and private and public archives and libraries located in five Bra-
zilian states, Italy, and the United States.

Oral sources—especially the living memories of pioneers who were 
willing to talk to me—were crucial for re-creating some passages, 
events, and places in the most detailed and faithful way possible, which 
I believed was important to tell this story. Whenever possible, I gave 
voice to eyewitnesses, but hearsay accounts from secondary sources, 
like the relatives of dead victims, were also important. Officials were 
equally central to writing this book, and I interviewed dozens of for-
mer ministers, current and former state and federal lawmakers, law 
enforcement agents, federal and state judges, and prosecutors. Most 
interviewees were willing to talk on the record, but others asked to 
remain completely anonymous.

Individual memory is fallible, especially when sources are recol-
lecting events from several decades prior, and the debate over land 
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ownership and frontier expansion in the Amazon is polarized and 
controversial. For instance, many used the word fazendeiros or large 
landholders as a euphemism for a world of people who are half rural 
businessmen and half criminals. (Of course when I refer to a person 
in this book as a fazendeiro, that by no means indicates that he is an 
outlaw or someone who has ever committed a crime. Most Brazilian 
fazendeiros are law-abiding citizens and successful and ethical busi-
nessmen.) Therefore, I have undertaken extensive cross-checking and 
have tested the memories of my most important sources in order to 
write an account as close to the facts as possible. Maria Joel, Brito, and 
Francisco, for example, were interviewed multiple times. When possi-
ble, I also corroborated oral accounts with documentary evidence. As 
a result, this book contains a large number of endnotes.

Brazil and its constitutional and legal framework allowing journal-
ists to access public information and documents deserve credit, and 
the evidentiary lattice of this work would have been much different 
otherwise. Through Brazil’s freedom of information act (Lei de Acesso 
à Informação. or LAI), I filed dozens of requests for access to doc-
uments from the municipal, state, and federal governments, and, in 
most cases, I received the information I requested. LAI helped validate 
many stories I was told orally in Rondon do Pará. Some of the most 
sensitive material of this book, however, was already available to the 
public in the extraordinary Arquivo Nacional, especially hundreds of 
confidential dossiers produced by several information agencies during 
the military dictatorship (1964–1985).

Accessing court documents proved slightly more difficult and time-
consuming. I had to hire lawyers to get access to some court cases 
archived in Rondon do Pará’s house of justice, and the files of the 
“chainsaw case” were not found in the archives when I was granted 
access by the president of Pará’s justice system. But in general terms, 
and despite some bureaucratic snags, I felt that the right to informa-
tion prevailed in most cases, and civil servants and judges granted me 
unrestricted access to information crucial to writing the book.

According to written official records, Josélio de Barros Carneiro ad-
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mitted to his participation in five murders: three in Espírito Santo and 
two in Rondon do Pará.1 Several reliable accounts attribute many more 
crimes to him, though. This myriad of accusations made it difficult for 
me to verify what was true and what was perhaps an exaggeration or 
part of a defamation campaign, as Josélio often claimed. Therefore, 
to tell the most controversial parts of his personal story, I have relied 
almost entirely upon written records from official sources, such as the 
documents of some twenty civil and criminal cases. They validated, in 
most cases, what I had heard about Josélio from sources in both Pará 
and Espírito Santo.

Understanding the backgrounds of Josélio and Nunes was funda-
mental, and I have also relied on oral sources sympathetic to them. One 
of Josélio’s brothers, José Francisco de Barros, was interviewed twice. 
His information proved fundamental to understanding Josélio’s early 
days and the story of his family in the complex and volatile Espírito 
Santo of the 1950s and 1960s. However, none of Josélio’s daughters or 
his son cooperated with the research for this book. I was particularly 
interested in interviewing Shirley Cristina, who was Rondon’s mayor 
in addition to Josélio’s most trusted daughter, because she had her own 
story to tell. But she never responded to my requests, although she 
has given many interviews to the media over the years. Only one of 
Josélio’s six children ever replied to my emails, phone calls, or letters—
but only to say that she’d never say a word to me, and that if I persisted 
in requesting an interview, she would sue me.

I also contacted Décio José Barroso Nunes through one of his 
brothers and, more important, through his lawyers, but I failed to get 
an interview with him. The two attorneys who represented him in the 
2014 and 2019 jury trials for the murder of Dezinho, Roberto Lauria 
and Antônio Maria Freitas Leite Jr., respectively, also declined to be 
interviewed.

Still, this book is largely built on information from Josélio and Nunes. 
Both fazendeiros have been involved in civil and criminal litigation for 
several decades. Their version of the facts was in tens of thousands of 
court files, as well as in occasional interviews with the press, so I have 
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incorporated their words in the text and duly annotated the sources. 
Some of Nunes’s defense attorneys in civil cases also granted me in-
terviews.

Anything that appears in the text between quotation marks has been 
told to me during interviews or is sourced in police files, court doc-
uments (including transcripts and informant statements), diplomatic 
cables, and files from the Brazilian congress and senate, the Indian 
Protection Service (SPI), the National Indian Foundation (FUNAI), 
the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Natural Re-
sources (IBAMA), the Land Institute of Pará state (ITERPA) and the 
National Institute for Colonization and Agrarian Reform (INCRA). 
I’ve also drawn upon a wide range of documents from institutions 
such as the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC); Centro 
Missionario—Diocesi di Piacenza Bobbio; the Pastoral Land Commis-
sion (CPT); and Armazém da Memória. They are all mentioned in the 
notes.

When I attribute some thoughts to the sources, it is because those 
sources expressed them to me or to an interviewer like a police offi-
cer, a judge, or an attorney, or I read about it in official documents. 
At times, the thoughts of some characters were conveyed to a third 
person I have later interviewed. This is the situation, for example, with 
Maria Joel (Dezinho) and with Francisco (Pedro).
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Notes

Preface
1.	 Rondon do Pará has 8,246 square kilometers, according to the Brazilian In-

stitute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE).
2.	 In Brazil, the main source for data on land-related murders is the Pastoral 

Land Commission, which the author cites extensively in the book. However, 
for a global comparison, the author has chosen here the data provided by 
Global Witness on annual reports from 2002 to 2021.

3.	 For a global overview of the conflicts and the roots of violence against 
campaigners, see Arnim Scheidel et al., “Environmental Conflicts and 
Defenders: A Global Overview,” Global Environmental Change 63 (2020): 
102104. DOI: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102104. Also important to note is 
the data from the Environmental Justice Atlas database (www.ejatlas.org).

4.	 Data from Seth Garfield, In Search of the Amazon: Brazil, the United 
States, and the Nature of a Region (Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 
2013), 8.

5.	 “Making Sense of Amazon Deforestation Patterns,” undated, Earth Obser-
vatory, NASA https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/images/145888/making-sense 
-of-amazon-deforestation-patterns.

6.	 Jochen Schöngart et al., “Age and Growth Patterns of Brazil Nut Trees (Ber-
tholletia excelsa Bonpl.) in Amazonia, Brazil.” Biotropica 47, no. 5 (2015): 
550–58. DOI: 10.1111/btp.12243. 

7.	 On the pet jaguar story, pictures showed to the author by pioneers.
8.	 Referring to the small town of Buriticupú, near the border between Pará 

and Maranhão. 
9.	 Referring to the city of Novo Progresso, in Pará. On the bullets, see Jesse 

Hyde, “The Lawless Frontier at the Heart of the Burning Amazon,” Rolling 
Stone, September 17, 2019. On the attacks against helicopters and vehicles, 
see “Manifestantes invadem sede do Ibama no Pará,” G1, April 5, 2011, and 
Folha de S. Paulo, July 7, 2011. For a larger story of the city, see Mauricio Tor-
res, Juan Doblas, and Daniela Fernandes Alarcon, “ ‘Dono é quem desmata’: 
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Conexões entre grilagem e desmatamento no sudoeste paraense,” Instituto 
Agronômico da Amazônia, 2016, https://www.socioambiental.org/sites/blog 
.socioambiental.org/files/nsa/arquivos/dono_e_quem_desmata_conexoes 
_entre_gril1.pdf; and Jeremy M. Campbell, Conjuring Property: Speculation 
and Environmental Futures in the Brazilian Amazon (Seattle: University of 
Washington Press, 2015).

10.	 Quote is from Professor Clifford Welch in Global Witness, Deadly Environ-
ment (London: Global Witness, 2014).

11.	 Barbara Demick, Eat the Buddha: Life and Death in a Tibetan Town (New 
York: Random House, 2020). Quote is from the Author’s Note.

12.	 Carl Bernstein, Chasing History. A Kid in the Newsroom (New York: Henry 
Holt, 2022). The quote is from chapter 20. His colleague Bob Woodward 
offered a slightly different but equally valid definition for journalism: “the 
best obtainable version of the truth.” 

1: The Escape
1.	 Gil’s account based on statements provided to the police on June 28, 1995, 

and July 5, 1995, court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046, Pará state.
2.	 On the meeting with Manuel and the bonfire, Gil’s statement to the po-

lice. Description of the place using police photographs filed in court case 
0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046. Also based on author’s interviews with Luiz 
Cavalcante and Sueny Feitosa.

3.	 On his previous fears, Gil’s statement to the police on June 28, 1995, and 
July 5, 1995, court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046. He would say to law en-
forcement that it was whispered that “when Josélio didn’t like a laborer or 
didn’t want to pay them, his hitmen killed them.”

4.	 The ranch’s description is based on author’s interview with former laborers 
and police photographs filed in court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046.

5.	 Diana Jean Schemo, “Amazon Is Burning Again, as Furiously as Ever,” New 
York Times, October 12, 1995.

6.	 Gil’s statements to the police on June 28, 1995. 
7.	 Gil’s statement to the police on July 5, 1995, in court case 0000272-

32.1997.8.14.0046 and police inquiry 95-DRPA-018/95.
8.	 Ceará’s story and description is based on the information provided by 

Gil to the police and police report 95-DRPA-018/95, court case 0000272-
32.1997.8.14.0046.

9.	 John Hemming, Tree of Rivers: The Story of the Amazon (London: Thames & 
Hudson, 2008), quote from chapter 10.

10.	 The recruiter’s full name was Francisco das Chagas Abreu. Here I refer to 
his statement to the police on July 27, 1995, and Correio do Tocantins. O 
Jornal de Carajás, July 21–27, 1995. Josélio confirmed in his statement dated 
August 18, 1995, that Chico recruited laborers for his ranches.

11.	 In his statement to the police on July 27, 1995, Chico admitted he recruited 
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workers in hotels in Paragominas to work as laborers in Josélio’s land and 
paid their bills.

12.	 On the size of the fazenda, see Escritura Pública, Livro 113, Folha 106, Cartório 
Condurú, dated May 20, 1987, and contained in civil court case 0010474-
32.2017.8.14.0046, Rondon do Pará. About the meaning of Te-Chaga-U, Juan 
Francisco Recalde, “Vocablos designativos de relaçoes e contatos sociais nas 
linguas tupi e guarani,” Revista do Arquivo Municipal de São Paulo, Septem-
ber 1937. 

13.	 Gil’s statement on June 28, 1995, court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046.
14.	 Josélio’s physical description based on confidential file ACE 3582/83, Au-

gust 28, 1975, and eyewitnesses.
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court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046.

44.	 Chico’s interview with the author.
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the basis that the deed he had provided was fake. Josélio’s written request to 
ITERPA was made on December 20, 1978, and is found in ITERPA processos 
05264/78 and 2008/121168.

52.	 Certidão 0037, ITERPA, issued to Josélio on March 5, 1987.
53.	 On Hugo’s police records, see Informação 667-S/102-A7-CIE.
54.	 The author contacted Pará’s land agency, ITERPA, for information on 

faked deeds for Josélio’s ranches and was informed that the Fazenda Serra 
Morena (processo 2002/96387) was confirmed as being based on a forged 
deed. On state subsidies enjoyed by the Te-Chaga-U, information pro-
vided by the Ministry of Regional Development to the author through the 
freedom of information act, petition no. 59011.000007/2021-88. Processo 
28.650/003657/91, Fazenda Te-Chaga-U Agrocpecuaria S.A., SUDAM.

55.	 The Te-Chaga-U Agropecuaria SA received $764,000 from February 1989 
to November 1994, according to information provided by the Ministry of 
Regional Development to the author through the freedom of information 
act, petition 59011.000007/2021-88. Processo 28.650/003657/91.

56.	 Jean Hébette, Area de fronteira e conflito: O lesto do médio Tocantins (Belém: 
NAEA, 1983).

57.	 The candidate for vice-mayor was Jairo Marçal de Moura, and his murder 
was reported in Alguns casos de violência cometidos em Rondon do Pará, 
pelo fazendeiro Josélio de Barros Carneiro contra trabalhadores, unsigned, 
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undated document, CPT, Marabá. The author confirmed that Marçal had 
been murdered in 1984 and requested access to the case from the court in 
Rondon do Pará, but the request was never answered by the judge.

58.	 The settler was Antonio Roldão, a smallholder who lived on a farm adjacent 
to one of Josélio’s estates, according to Brito’s interviews with the author. 
He said that he knew Roldão personally. Some details of the story were also 
reported by the advocacy group Justiça Global in Sandra Carvalho, Direitos 
humanos no Brasil 2003. Relatório anual do Centro de Justiça Global (Rio de 
Janeiro: Justiça Global, 2004), 58. 

59.	 Diário do Pará, June 4, 1984.
60.	 On the death of Fonteles, see police confidential report ACE6154/87.
61.	 On the family claims, see O Estado de S. Paulo, May 14, 1993. For an account 

of Fonteles’s murder, see Comissão Camponesa da Verdade, Relatório Final: 
Violações de direitos no campo 1946 a 1988.

8: No Longer Meek
1.	 O Globo, November 16, 1988, and Folha de S. Paulo, November 16, 1988.
2.	 Folha de S. Paulo, November 16, 1988. 
3.	 Author’s interview with former Workers’ Party leader and mayor candidate 

Maria de Jesus Silva Moura.
4.	 Ata do I Congresso dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, March 

17–18, 1993.
5.	 Documentary “Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta,” Federação dos Trabalhadores 

na Agricultura do Estado do Pará (FETAGRI) and Comissão Pastoral da 
Terra (CPT), 2006.

6.	 Interview with Carlos Guedes, friend of Dezinho and lawyer of the CPT.
7.	 Branford and Rocha, Cutting the Wire: The Story of the Landless Movement 

in Brazil, 254.
8.	 John L. Hammond, “The MST and the Media: Competing Images of the 

Brazilian Landless Farmworkers’ Movement,” Latin American Politics and 
Society 46, no. 4 (2004): 61–90.

9.	 Branford and Rocha, Cutting the Wire. Data on 90 claims that “about 
100,000 families” lived in MST settlements by 1999.

10.	 Wilder Robles and Henry Veltmeyer, The Politics of Agrarian Reform in Bra-
zil: The Landless Rural Workers Movement (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 
2015), 97.

11.	 Miguel Carter, “The Landless Rural Workers Movement and Democracy in 
Brazil,” Latin American Research Review 45, Special Issue: Living in Actually 
Existing Democracies (2010): 186–217.

12.	 Carter, “The Landless Rural Workers Movement and Democracy in Brazil.”
13.	 Jornal do Brasil, 08/12/1985.
14.	 Written statement by Laércio José Segatti, president of the Associação, on 

March 19, 1997, found in case number 046.1997.2.000029-0, Justice of Pará.
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15.	 A written statement by the president of the Associação Agropecuária 
Rondonense in 1995 and presented to the justice by Josélio’s lawyer in the 
Te-Chaga-U case indicated that the rancher was president from 1987 to 
1988 and from 1993 to 1994.

16.	 Author’s interview with Odeb Moreira.
17.	 See A Gazeta do Comércio, August 2004, and Evolução, July 12–18, 1999.
18.	 The names of all sources interviewed by the author giving details or opin-

ions on Barroso Nunes have been omitted for their anonymity and safety.
19.	 Correio do Tocantins, December 5–9, 2000.
20.	 Certidão, 10/03/1994, no. 378, fls. 078, Livro 2-B, Registro Geral, Cartório 

do Único Of ício de Rondon do Pará.
21.	 Nunes declared to the justice that the combined value of the Fazenda Lacy, 

including machinery, houses, the land, and the timber, was $107 million. See 
566–80 of the federal court case 0006677-95.2012.4.01.3901/PA, TRF1. Also 
based on the police report on the Fazenda Lacy by Sergeant Claudio Marino 
Dias, November 25, 1999.

22.	 On the size of the ranch, see O Liberal, March 21, 1995.
23.	 Information provided by Josefa de Oliveira Avila, wife of rancher José 

Hilário, in her statement to the police on February 21, 1995, contained in 
court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará criminal justice.

24.	 File AGE/ANO 77679/94, Arquivo Nacional.
25.	 Oficio AQA/804/93, CONTAG, July 22, 1993.
26.	 Of. 005/93, Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, signed 

by Dezinho, August 3, 1993.
27.	 State legislator Nonato Guimaraes communication of June 16, 1993, and au-

thor’s interview with Guimaraes.
28.	 Oficio AQA/804/93, CONTAG, July 22, 1993.
29.	 Oficio AQA/804/93, CONTAG, July 22, 1993.
30.	 Of. 005/93, Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, Au-

gust 3, 1993.
31.	 Family account and statement by Dezinho on file 005/93, STR, August 3, 

1993.
32.	 Eugene Linden, “The Road to Disaster,” Time, October 6, 2000. 
33.	 Oficio 005/93, 03/08/1993, Sindicato do Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon 

do Pará.
34.	 Author interview with Carlos Guedes.
35.	 Josélio communication with ITERPA on October 19, 1993. ITERPA case 

2009/194655.
36.	 José Dutra da Costa’s communication with FETAGRI and judge Rosana 

Lúcia Canelas Bastos, March 21, 1994.
37.	 Relatório sobre a problemática da posse na área denominada Fazenda São 

Jorge, localizada na Vila Gavião. Sindicato do Trabalhadores de Rondon do 
Pará, March 1995.
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38.	 In March 10, 1994, Hilário sold Nunes a piece of land in Rondon, accord-
ing to Escritura Pública de Compra e Venda, livro 027, folhas 057 e 058, 
Cartório do Único Oficio de Rondon do Pará. Quote from Rita Serra in 
interview with the author.

39.	 On Josélio’s friendship with Souza, whose real name was Adélcio Nunes 
Leite, I quote Josélio in his statement to the police on August 18, 1995, court 
case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046, Pará.

9: Hunting Souza
1.	 Unless otherwise stated, the source for the account of facts, quotes, and 

data in this chapter is the author’s multiple interviews with Detective Antô-
nio Carlos Corrêa de Faria, his personal blog (cyberpolicia.com.br), and his 
memoir: Antônio Carlos Corrêa de Faria, O Sangue do Barão: As Histórias 
de Nossa História (Belo Horizone, self-published, 2007).

2.	 On the number of homicides, see Hoje em Dia, May 3, 1994. On the quote, 
see Estado de Minas Gerais, July 17, 2020.

3.	 See, for instance, Diário Mercantil, June 13, 1974, and Diário do Rio Doce, 
April 29, 1981.

4.	 On the support of the military, see Estado de Minas Gerais, July 17, 2020.
5.	 O Globo, December 28, 1991.
6.	 Diário Mercantil, September 13, 1974.
7.	 Estado de Minas, May 3, 1997.
8.	 Estado de Minas, July 17, 2020.
9.	 Globo Reporter, 1990. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=bVyqnbfXvDA.

10.	 Estado de Minas, July 17, 2020.
11.	 O Globo, July 20, 1990.
12.	 O Globo, July 25, 1990. On karate and Mello, see James Brooke, “Brazil La-

bor Chief Gets Place in Runoff,” New York Times, November 20, 1989.
13.	 Estado de Minas, May 20, 1990.
14.	 Estado de Minas, June 12, 1993.
15.	 Estado de Minas, June 12, 1993.
16.	 Estado de Minas, June 12, 1993.
17.	 Author’s interview with Paulo Orlando Rodrigues de Mattos, retired detec-

tive of the Minas Gerais police. He’s the person who originally received the 
tip about Faria.

18.	 O Estado de Minas, December 29, 1993. 
19.	 O Estado de Minas, December 29, 1993.
20.	 Correa de Faria, O Sangue do Barão: As Histórias de Nossa História, 214.
21.	 Photographs provided to the author by officer Faria; one of the photo-

graphs of Josélio as described can be found in the file court case 0000272-
32.1997.8.14.0046.

22.	 Estado de Minas, editions of June 15 through 25, 1994.
23.	 Estado de Minas, editions of June 15 through 25, 1994. 
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24.	 Adélcio Nunes Leite interrogation, August 7, 1995, court case 0000272-
32.1997.8.14.0046, Pará.

25.	 Adélcio Nunes Leite interrogation, August 7, 1995, court case 0000272-
32.1997.8.14.0046, Pará. 

26.	 Estado de Minas, editions of June 15 through 25, 1994. 
27.	 Adélcio Nunes Leite interrogation, August 7, 1995, court case 0000272-

32.1997.8.14.0046, Pará.
28.	 Estado de Minas, September 29 and 30, 1994.
29.	 “Indulto a condenado a 229 anos,” O Tempo, September 11, 2013.
30.	 Estado de Minas, September 29 and 30, 1994.
31.	 Account provided to the author by retired officer Paulo Orlando Rodrigues 

de Mattos; he’s also a distant relative of the Cordeiros.
32.	 On the police suspicion of Josélio, court cases numbers (CNJ) 0000443-

15.1995.8.14.0039 and 0000667-78.1995.8.14.0039, Pará state. The media 
also wrote he was a suspect. O Liberal, May 25, 1995, June 13, 1995, and A 
Província do Pará, May 25, 1995.

33.	 Judge Amorim ordered Josélio’s arrest on March 19, 1997, and granted him 
an habeas corpus the day later, according to documents in court case num-
ber 046.1997.2.000029-0, Justice of Pará.

34.	 Author’s interview with Maria Joel, Rita Serra, and Zé Geraldo. Zé Geral-
do’s suspicions about Mrs. Barros were also reported by Diário do Pará, 
June 30, 1995.

35.	 On May 22, 1995, state legislator Zé Geraldo and members of FETAGRI 
met with the attorney general of Pará to request Josélia Leontina’s transfer, 
according to a press release from Zé Geraldo’s office dated July 3, 1995. 

36.	 “Certidão” from Rosilda Pacheco e Silva, ministério público do Estado do 
Pará, February 6, 2002, court case AREsp 518863/PA (2014/0116742-0).

37.	 “Certidão” from Rosilda Pacheco e Silva, ministério público do Estado do 
Pará, February 6, 2002, court case AREsp 518863/PA (2014/0116742-0).

38.	 See Relatório sobre a participação do Deputado na diligência em Rondon 
do Pará, Zé Geraldo, July 3, 1995. Quote is from Geraldo’s interviews with 
the author, 2018 and 2019.

39.	 Court case AREsp 518863/PA (2014/0116742-0).
40.	 Sentence by judge Guísela Haase de Miranda, December 13, 2002, court 

case AREsp 518863/PA (2014/0116742-0).
41.	 Recurso Extraordinário com Agravo 869.180, Pará, May 10, 2015.
42.	 The internal affairs office of the Public Ministry of Pará informed the author 

that there had been four disciplinary processes against Josélia Leontina de 
Barros Lopes: 03340/2003, 36801/2017, 42214/2019, and 17587/2020.

43.	 Procuração Publica, Cartório Condurú, livr 292, folha 107, 09/12/1992, con-
tained in ITERPA processo 2009.194655, and Procuração, Cartório of Ron-
don do Pará, libro 028, Folha 168, dated September 9, 1996, and contained 
in ITERPA public processo 2002.96387.
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44.	 On the jobs of Josélio’s daughters, see the self-declaration by each of them 
in Escritura Pública de nomeação de inventariante, Livro 191, fohas 057/058, 
ato 095, cartório Travessa Três de Maio n 1503, Belem, Pará. The quote is 
from a source in Rondon do Pará who prefers to remain anonymous.

45.	 On the murders attributed by the media to Josélio on May 1995, see A 
Província do Pará and O Liberal, May 25, 1995, and O Liberal and Diário 
do Pará on June 13, 1995. The quote of Shirley Cristina is from Tocantins. O 
Jornal de Carajas, June 21–27, 1995.

46.	 Based on documentary evidence in criminal court case 046.1997.2.000029-0, 
Pará, like motions filed by attorney Vilaça with the letterhead Barros & Vilaça 
Lawyers. The address is the same as the one printed on Josélio’s business 
card. The author attempted to contact Mrs. Vilaça to get her comments, but 
she never responded.

47.	 Motion filed on April 29, 1997, in the documents of court case 046.1997-
2.000029-0.

48.	 José Antônio da Silva’s statement to the police on February 12, 1997, in court 
case 046.1997-2.000029-0.

49.	 Josélio’s statement to Detective Moraes, August 18, 1995, in court case 
0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046.

50.	 Documents contained in court case 046.1997-2.000029-0, Pará justice.
51.	 Rai was freed by order of Judge Amorim on May 2, 1997, according to the 

documents in court case 046.1997.2.000029-0, Justice of Pará.

10: Nowhere to Hide
1.	 The statement of eyewitness Jorge Pereira da Silva to the police on Febru-

ary 14, 1995, criminal court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
2.	 Quote from Josefa de Oliveira Avila statement to police on February 21, 

1995, criminal court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401. The author attempted 
to verify this information. He contacted Denilson Carlos dos Santos and 
José Alexander Bastos Dyna, attorneys of the family of Hilário. Olivandro 
de Oliveira Avila, son of Hilário, was interviewed by the author.

3.	 Information provided by Josefa de Oliveira Ávila, statement to the police, 
February 21, 1995. 

4.	 Information provided by Josefa de Oliveira Ávila, statement to the police, 
February 21, 1995. 

5.	 Author’s interview with Elizinete Lopes da Silva.
6.	 O Liberal, February 23, 1995.
7.	 José Dutra da Costa (Dezinho) statement to the Rondon do Pará police, 

March 24, 1995, court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará criminal justice. 
8.	 Relatório, IPL, 001/95-DPRP, contained in court case 0000700-

89.2000.814.0401, Pará criminal justice.
9.	 On the use of violence, “Violências da PM preocupam deputados,” O Lib-

eral, March 24, 1995.
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10.	 Author’s interview with Sergio Galiza.
11.	 Raimundo Nonato Rocha statement to the police, March 24, 1995, court 

case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
12.	 Raimundo Nonato Rocha statement to the police, March 24, 1995, court 

case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
13.	 Raimundo Nonato Rocha statement to the police, March 24, 1995, court 

case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
14.	 Elias Dias do Nascimento, mentioned in Carta Denúncia, FETAGRI, re-

leased on May 18, 1995. 
15.	 Of ício 007/95, FETAGRI, July 10, 1995.
16.	 Ata do II Congresso dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, May 10–11, 

1996.
17.	 Quote from Fetagri-PA/AP and Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Ron-

don do Pará joint communication, undated.
18.	 Of ício 032/96, Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, Au-

gust 11, 1996.
19.	 Quote from Oficio 032/96, Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon 

do Pará, August 11, 1996.
20.	 Quotes, descriptions of the scene, and thoughts from author’s interviews 

with José Soares de Brito.
21.	 José Soares de Brito, interview with the author.
22.	 Brito statements to police officers in Belém on August 28, 1996.
23.	 Brito’s and Dezinho’s statements to police officers in Belém on August 28, 

1996.
24.	 Lawmaker Paulo Rocha, Diário da Câmara dos Deputados, August 28, 1996.
25.	 FETAGRI communication to Pará’s secretary of public security, October 7, 

1996.
26.	 FETAGRI communication to Pará’s secretary of public security, October 7, 

1996.
27.	 Luiz Pacheco Neto, “Piaui,” statement to the police on October 14, 1996, 

contained in court case 200620326535, Pará state.
28.	 Request by officer Raimundo Jose Rodrigues Souza, October 17, 1996.
29.	 Rule by Judge Margui Gaspar Bittecourt, October 17, 1996.
30.	 Luiz Pacheco Neto, “Piaui,” statement, court case 200620326535, Pará state.
31.	 Luiz Pacheco Neto, “Piaui,” statement, court case 200620326535, Pará state.
32.	 “Carta Denúncia: Director do STR de Rondon do Pará está ameaçado de 

morte,” February 6, 1997.
33.	 “Mais um Trabalhador Rural Assassinado no Município de Rondon do 

Pará,” CPT release, March 14, 1997.

11: Nothing Shining in Eldorado
1.	 Larry Rohter, “Serra Pelada Journal; Brazilian Miners Wait for Payday After 

Diet of Bitterness,” New York Times, August 23, 2004.
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2.	 Numbers of police officers and demonstrators vary greatly among sources. 
The author has chosen to use the data given in chapter 8 of Miguel Carter, 
ed., Challenging Social Inequality: The Landless Rural Workers Movement 
and Agrarian Reform in Brazil (Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2015).

3.	 Folha de S. Paulo, April 17–20, 1996.
4.	 Larry Rohter, “Acquittals in Massacre Arouse Brazil,” New York Times, Oc-

tober 29, 1999. 
5.	 O Globo, April 19, 1996. 
6.	 Sue Branford and Jan Rocha, Cutting the Wire, chapter 7.
7.	 Carter, ed., Challenging Social Inequality, chapter 8. On the name tags, see 

also Larry Rohter, “Acquittals in Massacre Arouse Brazil,” New York Times, 
October 29, 1999, and Matthew Teague, “Police Massacre Case Turns Back 
Tide of Injustice in Brazil,” Los Angeles Times, October 6, 2012

8.	 On police abuses, see James L. Cavallaro and Anna C. Monteiro, Fighting 
Violence with Violence: Human Rights Abuse and Criminality in Rio de Ja-
neiro, Human Rights Watch Short Report no. 2, 1996. On the historical use 
of violence by elites in Brazil, see R. S. Rose, The Unpast: Elite Violence and 
Social Control in Brazil, 1954–2000 (Athens: Ohio University Press, 2005).

9.	 O Globo, April 19, 1996.
10.	 O Globo, April 19, 1996.
11.	 “Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Brazil,” the Inter-American 

Commission on Human Rights, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.97, Document 29, rev.1, 
September 29, 1997.

12.	 Data from Conflitos no Campo Brasil 1996, CPT, Goiânia, June 1997.
13.	 Conflitos no Campo Brasil 1996, CPT, Goiânia, June 1997.
14.	 Rose, The Unpast, 226.
15.	 Diana Jean Schemo, “Violence Growing in Battle Over Brazilian Land,” New 

York Times, April 21, 1996. 
16.	 Jeremy M. Campbell, Conjuring Property: Speculation and Environmental 

Futures in the Brazilian Amazon, 60. According to Professor Campbell, 
“the violence and fraud commonly associated with grilagem have delivered 
much of Brazil’s public patrimony into private hands, accentuating the na-
tion’s inequality and pushing macroeconomic trends toward greater con-
centration of wealth.” 

17.	 Miguel Carter, “The Landless Rural Workers Movement and Democracy in 
Brazil,” Latin American Research Review 45, Special Issue: Living in Actually 
Existing Democracies (2010):186–217.

18.	 Carter, ed., Challenging Social Inequality, 165–67.
19.	 See Folha de S. Paulo, April 15–20, 1997.
20.	 Folha de S. Paulo, August 16, 1999.
21.	 See, for instance, Folha de S. Paulo on March 30, 1998, and O Liberal, 

April 27, 1998.
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22.	 Manifesto, April 23, 1996, Associação Agropecuária de Rondon do Pará e o 
Sindicato Patronal de Rondon do Pará.

23.	 On the reasons causing concern, author’s interview with Brito. Data of the 
MST occupation is from “Sem Terra celebram 30 anos da primeira ocu-
pação realizada pelo MST,” MST, October 28, 2015.

24.	 Data for the context is from Plano Plurianual—PPA 2002/2005, Município 
de Rondon do Pará.

25.	 On the depletion of reserves, see A. Veríssimo, E. Lima, and M. Lentini, 
Pólos Madeireiros do Estado do Pará (Belém: Imazon, 2002).

26.	 In 1995, Pará produced 5,375,000 cubic meters of logs for a total of 11,926,000 
for Brazil. Source: IBGE, Censo Agropecuario, 1995. On the black market, 
author’s interviews with former Rondon loggers.

27.	 On the crisis, see Maria Lúcia do Amor Divino Xavier, O declínio das in-
dústrias madeireiras no município de Rondon do Pará, dissertation, Uni-
versidade Federal do Pará, 2003, 45 and 59. Pará doubled its herd from 1985 
to 1995, according to Valdeci Monteiro dos Santos, A economia do sudeste 
paraense: fronteira de expansão na periferia brasileira, dissertation, Insti-
tuto de Economia da Universidade Estadual de Campinas, 2011. See tables 
on 88 and 96.

28.	 In 1980, the municipality of Rondon do Pará, which includes the town and 
its interior, had a population of 27,600, and in 1991, of 52,200. By 2000, the 
population had declined to 39,800. Sources: IBGE Censo Demográfico of 
1980, 1991, and 2000.

29.	 Dezinho’s speech contained in footage provided by the CPT. For an over-
view of the crisis and its consequences, see Valdeci Moneiro dos Santos, “A 
economia do sudeste paraenese: evidências das transformações estruturais,” 
in Aristedes Monteiro Neto, César Nunes de Castro, and Carlos Antonio 
Brandão, organizers, Desenvolvimento Regional no Brasil: políticas, estraté-
gias e perspectivas (Rio de Janeiro: Ipea, 2017).

30.	 O Liberal, November 20, 1997.
31.	 Carter, ed., Challenging Social Inequality, 274. On the date of the occupa-

tion and the motives for it, interview with lawyer Batista and annual reports 
from CPT for 1997, 1998, 1999.

32.	 Conflitos no Brasil 1998, CPT annual report.
33.	 CPT communication: “Pistoleiros atiram em trabalhadores rurais da fazenda 

Jerusalem no município de Rondon do Pará.” Marabá, December 16, 1997.
34.	 Police report by officer James Moreira de Sousa, Delegacia Especializada de 

Conflitos Agrários (DECA), December 22, 1997.
35.	 “Queremos Paz em Rondon,” pamphlet, unsigned and undated but distrib-

uted by late January or early February of 1998. This document was part of 
the dossier of Petition 1290-04, November 30, 2004, Inter-American Com-
mission on Human Rights, Organization of American States.
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36.	 Quote from Correio do Tocantins, January 27–29, 1998; on the accusations 
about Josélio as the “articulador” of a larger group, see also Correio do To-
cantins, March 21–26, 1997. 

37.	 Letter addressed February 3, 1998, by the Sindicato, the CPT, and other 
peasant organizations. Cited in Petition 1290-04, November 30, 2004, 
Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of Amer-
ican States.

38.	 On the occupation, Conflitos no Campo Brasil 1999, CPT annual report.
39.	 Denunciation filed by Jucelino Favoreto on February 12, 1999, to the police 

of Rondon do Pará, case number 59928.
40.	 Injunction number 063/99, Judge Amorim, March 4, 1999.
41.	 Opinião, May 20–21, 1999. 
42.	 Mandado de prisão, signed by Judge Amorim, May 18, 1999.
43.	 Opinião, May 20–21, 1999.
44.	 About the number of people in the demonstration and Dezinho’s public 

complaints, see O Liberal, June 2 and 3, 1999, and Correio do Tocantins, 
June 4–7, 1999

45.	 This version of facts was supported by organizations like Justiça Global, 
Terra de Direitos, and the CPT. The quote is from the brief by the Robert F. 
Kennedy Memorial Center for Human Rights and Partner Organizations as 
Amicus Curiae in Support of Jose Dutra da Costa v. Government of Brazil—
Claim JG/RJ no. 294/04, February 21, 2006.

46.	 Complaint (FO) no. 460173, June 9, 1999. The author put in requests to both 
the police and the military police of Pará for access to the complaint but was 
informed that documents from prior to 2008 had been destroyed. Still, it 
is mentioned in the official Relatório Fazenda Lacy Barroso (November 25, 
1999), found in appendices to the Comissão Parlamentar Mista de Inquérito 
da Reforma Agrária e Urbana. Brasília, November 2005.

47.	 Complaint (FO) 460178, June 15, 1999.
48.	 The date of FETAGRI’s report on the Fazenda Lacy is October 14, 1999. 

Source: Relatório Fazenda Lacy Barroso (November 25, 1999), in appendi-
ces to the Comissão Parlamentar Mista de Inquérito da Reforma Agrária e 
Urbana. Brasília, November 2005.

49.	 Processo Administrativo Disciplinar (PAD) 19993006475-1. Also the story 
“Cooperativa usa títulos podres para pagar dívida,” published by Folha de S. 
Paulo, May 14, 2000.

50.	 About the forced retirement of Mr. Amorim, see Tribunal de Justiça do Es-
tado do Pará, Acórdao 72075, ruled on June 4, 2008.

12: Death and Salvation
1.	 In Wellington’s statements to the police, the killer referred to the murder as 

“the service,” and so the author uses this word here.
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2.	 Wellington’s first statement to police, December 22, 2000, and Welling-
ton’s statement on January 25, 2001, both files contained in court case 
200620326535, Pará state.

3.	 Maria Joel’s description of the crime is from author’s interviews with her.
4.	 Wellington’s first statement to police, November 22, 2000, 9:00 a.m., court 

case 200620326535, Pará state.
5.	 Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta, Federação dos Trabalhadores na Agricultura 

do Estado do Pará (FETAGRI) and Comissão Pastoral da Terra (CPT), 2006.
6.	 Maria Joel’s description of the crime from interviews with her.
7.	 Dr. Antônio Lopes de Angelo statement to police, December 12, 2000, con-

tained in court case 200620326535, Pará state.
8.	 Superior Electoral Court, Brazil, Results of Rondon do Pará, municipal elec-

tions, 2000.
9.	 Quote from the author’s interview with Maria Joel.

10.	 Quote from the author’s interview with Maria Joel.
11.	 Maria Joel’s statement for Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta, Federação dos 

Trabalhadores na Agricultura do Estado do Pará (FETAGRI) and Comissão 
Pastoral da Terra (CPT), 2006.

12.	 Joelson’s statement in the documentary Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta, Fed-
eração dos Trabalhadores na Agricultura do Estado do Pará (FETAGRI) and 
Comissão Pastoral da Terra (CPT), 2006.

13.	 Joelson’s account to the author.
14.	 Joélima’s interviews with the author.
15.	 Statement from Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta, FETAGRI.
16.	 Shirt description from Laudo de Exame n 018/2001, January 16, 2001, case 

number 200620326535, Pará state.
17.	 Gun description given by Raimundo Nonato da Silva, December 27, 2000, 

court case 200620326535. On the killer’s attitude, recollections from Maria 
Joel’s interviews with the author.

18.	 Maria Joel’s interview with the author.
19.	 Maria Joel’s first declaration to police, November 22, 2000, 9:00 a.m., court 

case 200620326535, Pará state.
20.	 Quote from Maria Joel’s statement in Dezinho: Vida, Sonho, e Luta, Feder-

ação dos Trabalhadores na Agricultura do Estado do Pará (FETAGRI) and 
Comissão Pastoral da Terra (CPT), 2006.

21.	 Maria Joel’s first declaration to police, November 22, 2000, 9:00 a.m., court 
case 200620326535, Pará state.

22.	 Wellington’s first statement to police, November 22, 2000, 9:00 a.m., con-
tained in court case 200620326535, Pará state.

23.	 Witness Magno Fernandes do Nascimento’s statement to the police, No-
vember 22, 2000, court case 200620326535, Pará state.

24.	 Diário do Pará, November 25, 2000.
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25.	 Thoughts and unfolding of events prior to the murder conveyed by Wel-
lington in his first statement to police, November 22, 2000, court case 
200620326535, Pará state.

26.	 Maria Joel’s interviews with the author.
27.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, on judgment for 

court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
28.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, court case 

0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
29.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, court case 

0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
30.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, court case 

0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
31.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, court case 

0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
32.	 Relatório Fazenda Lacy Barros (November 25, 1999), contained in appen-

dices of Comissão Parlamentar Mista de Inquérito da Reforma Agrária e 
Urbana. Brasília, November 2005.

33.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias statement on April 23, 2019, on judgment for 
court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.

34.	 Author’s interview with Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias.
35.	 The certificates or diplomas of the police of Pará awarded to Josélio are 

found in the court case 0000272-32.1997.8.14.0046 and were presented to 
the justice by the rancher as a proof of his good behavior.

36.	 Author’s interview with Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias.
37.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, court case 

0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará, and author’s interview.
38.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author
39.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
40.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
41.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
42.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
43.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
44.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
45.	 Autopsy carried out by Instituto Médico-Legal Renato Chaves, November 

22, 2000, court case 200620326535, Pará state.
46.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s statement on April 23, 2019, on judgment for 

court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.

13: An Unusual Case
1.	 O Liberal, November 22, 2000. Statement by public official Miguel Thomaz.
2.	 Diário do Pará, November 25, 2000.
3.	 Larry Rohter, “Brazilian Prison Revolt Exposes a Crumbling System,” New 

York Times, March 5, 2001.
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4.	 Rohter, “Brazilian Prison Revolt Exposes a Crumbling System.” 
5.	 According to a judicial certificate issued on March 9, 2001, Wellington da 

Silva had no criminal or judicial record. Certidão issued by Maria Naildes 
Fernandes Chaves, March 9, 2001, contained in court case 200620326535, 
Pará state.

6.	 Diário do Pará, November 25, 2000. 
7.	 Maria de Jesus Silva’s statement to the jury, November 13, 2006, contained 

in court case 200620326535.
8.	 According to the police records, Wellington was accompanied by attorney 

Adriana Andrey Lopes de Lima on November 22, 2000. Quotes are drawn 
from that statement. Mrs. Adriana Andrey Lopes was contacted by the au-
thor but didn’t reply for comment.

9.	 Statement based on interviews with Sergeant Claudio Marino Ferreira 
Dias.

10.	 Francisco de Assis Solidade Da Costa, interview with the author.
11.	 Joelina’s TV interview with Jornal Record, April 2011.
12.	 Joelminha’s interview with the author.
13.	 Diário do Pará, November 23, 2000. Quote from Airton Luiz Faleiro, pres-

idente of FETAGRI. 
14.	 Statement by Italo Macola, chief of office of Pará state, to the press. Provín-

cia do Pará, November 24, 2000.
15.	 On minister Raul Jungmann’s political career, see Sue Branford and Jan 

Rocha, Cutting the Wire: The Story of the Landless Movement in Brazil 
(London: Latin America Bureau, 2002). For the quote, see Diário do Pará, 
November 23, 2000, and O Estado de S. Paulo, November 24, 2000.

16.	 Diário do Pará, November 23, 2000, and O Estado de S. Paulo, Novem-
ber 24, 2000.

17.	 Wellington de Jesus’s statement on November 22, 2000, court case 
0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.

18.	 O Liberal, November 23, 2000.
19.	 On the number of people, see O Estado de S. Paulo, November 24, 2000, 

and Jornal do Brasil, November 24, 2000.
20.	 Descriptions based on accounts of Dezinho’s children, Maria Joel, lawyers 

Carlos Guedes and José Afonso Batista, photographs and chronicles of 
newspapers Província do Pará, Diário do Pará, O Liberal on November 24, 
2000, and footage from Globo TV stations.

21.	 O Liberal, November 24, 2000.
22.	 Descriptions based on accounts of Dezinho’s children, Maria Joel, lawyers 

Carlos Guedes and José Afonso Batista, photographs and chronicles of 
newspapers Província do Pará, Diário do Pará, O Liberal on November 24, 
2000, and footage from Globo TV stations.

23.	 Unless stated otherwise, quotes and statements from detective Walter Re-
sende come from his interviews with the author.



1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33

34S
35R

61

24.	 On the number of detectives and cops, see O Liberal, November 24, 2000.
25.	 Conflitos no Campo Brasil, 2000, CPT, 38.
26.	 Relatório, Walter Resende de Almeida, December 1, 2000, court case 

0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará state.
27.	 Fax sent by Shirley Cristina de Barros to detective Resende on December 20, 

2000, in court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.
28.	 Fax sent by Shirley Cristina de Barros to detective Resende on December 20, 

2000, in court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.
29.	 On Chico’s election, 80 Anos Baixo Guandu. 1935–2015, undated. Maga-

zine published by the municipal council of Baixo Guandu. Also, Josélio’s 
statement to the police on December 27, 2000, court case 0000700-
89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará state.

30.	 Maria Joel Dias da Costa’s statement to the pólice on November 25, 2000, 
contained in court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.

31.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias, interview with the author.
32.	 About Francisco Martins da Silva Filho’s working for Décio José Barroso 

Nunes and being the brother of the gunman Pedro Alves, see statement 
given by Francisco Martinson the day of the judgment, June 29, 2014. Video 
of the decision is available at the website of Pará’s tribunal of justice. Con-
cerning Josélio de Barros Carneiro, see his statement to the police on De-
cember 27, 2000, court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.

33.	 File in court case 046.2000.2.000012-7, Pará justice.

14: The Evidence Man
1.	 Unless otherwise stated, quotes from Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are 

from interviews with the author and Martins da Silva’s statement in court 
on April 29, 2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará. 

2.	 Court case 046.2000.2.000012-7.
3.	 Francisco provided this information to the author.
4.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are from his statement in court on April 29, 

2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará. 03:49:00.
5.	 Quotes from Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are from his statement in 

court on April 29, 2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará.
6.	 Detective Resende’s interviews with the author. 
7.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho’s statement on November 27, 2000, court 

case 200620326535.
8.	 Statement given by Olávio Silva Rocha to the pólice on December 20, 2000. 

Court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.
9.	 Dezinho referred to Manoel Lopes in Correio do Tocantins, January 27–29, 

1998. João Lopes de Angelo was from 1972 to at least 1975 mayor of Itanhém, 
Bahia state, according to official documents.

10.	 Statement given by Manoel “Duca” Lopes to the police on December 27, 
2000. Court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.
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11.	 Statements provided by João Lopes de Angelo and Antônio Lopes de An-
gelo on December 20, 2000. Court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046. The 
author reached out to Dr. Antônio for a comment, contacting him through 
the cell number and email addresses he had provided to Brazil’s electoral 
court, but Dr. Antônio never responded. João’s daughter, lawyer Adriana 
Andrey Diniz Lopes, didn’t reply for comment.

12.	 Statement given by Manoel “Duca” Lopes to the pólice on December 27, 
2000. Court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.

13.	 Josélia Leontina married Marcos Vinicius Diniz Lopes on November 12, 
1993, according to Escritura Pública, Livro 191, Folhas 057/058/ Ato 095, 
Cartório Condurú, June 18, 2014.

14.	 The defense attorney was Adriana Andrey Lopes de Lima, according to 
court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.

15.	 Dr. Angelo had also been elected substitute state legislator in 1998, accord-
ing to Pará’s electoral court.

16.	 Lourival had attempted to use fake deeds to get a subsidized loan from a 
state-run bank back in the 1970s, but the ruse hadn’t worked because it had 
been discovered by law enforcement. However, he remained in control of 
the land. Informação 22/1512-A/75, confidential report, Ministerio do Inte-
rior, November 5, 1975.

17.	 Resende interrogated Mr. Veloso on December 22, 2000. He admitted to 
having been arrested for violent robbery and for possession without a li-
cense, but denied having participated in Pedro’s murder, though he admit-
ted he knew Pedro personally. Resende charged him with murder. Years  
later, prosecutors found no reliable evidence and filed a motion to dis-
miss. Source is court file for Pedro’s murder, number 046.2000.2.000012-7, 
Pará.

18.	 Police investigation 037/2000-DMRP, cited in motion of defense attorney 
Humberto Feio Boulhosa, April 9, 2001, court case 200620326535.

19.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho statement on November 27, 2000, court 
case 200620326535, and Correio do Tocantins, December 5–9, 2000.

20.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho’s statement on November 27, 2000, court 
case 200620326535.

21.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho’s statement on November 27, 2000, court 
case 200620326535.

22.	 Antônio Lopes de Angelo’s statement to the pólice on December 20, 2000, 
court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará state.

23.	 Quotes from Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are from his statement in 
court on April 29, 2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará. 

24.	 Quotes from Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are from his statement in 
court on April 29, 2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará. 

25.	 Quotes from Francisco Martins da Silva Filho are from his statement in 
court on 29/04/2014, case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046, Pará. 
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26.	 Francisco Martins da Silva Filho’s statement on November 27, 2000, con-
tained in court case 200620326535.

27.	 Sue Branford and Jan Rocha, Cutting the Wire: The Story of the Landless 
Movement in Brazil (London: Latin America Bureau, 2002), 12.

28.	 According to official information, Francisco joined the witness protec-
tion program on January 1, 2001. See Oficio SEJU/SDDH/PROVITA/PA 
no. 74/2001, September 3, 2001, contained on 388 of court case 0000700-
89.2000.814.0401, Pará state.

29.	 Olivandro de Almeida Ávila’s statement to the police on November 27, 
2000, court case 200620326535, Pará state. Based also on Olivandro’s inter-
view with the author.

30.	 Carlos Guedes’s statement to the police on November 28, 2000, court case 
200620326535, Pará state.

31.	 José Soares de Brito’s statement to the police on November 28, 2000, court 
case 200620326535, Pará state.

32.	 A Província do Pará, December 1, 2000. 
33.	 Autos Cíveis de Interdito Proibitório, requerente: Décio José Barroso Nunes 

e outros, Requerido: José Dutra da Costa da Silva e José Soares de Brito. 
Ruling on June 16, 1999, by Judge Paulo Cesar Pedreira Amorim, contained 
in court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, 3307–10.

34.	 Autos Cíveis de Interdito Proibitório, requerente: Décio José Barroso Nunes 
e outros, Requerido: José Dutra da Costa da Silva e José Soares de Brito. 
Ruling on June 16, 1999, by Judge Paulo Cesar Pedreira Amorim, contained 
in court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, 3307–10.

35.	 Autos Cíveis de Interdito Proibitório, requerente: Décio José Barroso Nunes 
e outros, Requerido: José Dutra da Costa da Silva e José Soares de Brito. 
Ruling on June 16, 1999, by Judge Paulo Cesar Pedreira Amorim, contained 
in court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, 3307–10.

36.	 On the 15,000 reais, see O Liberal, November 26, 2000.
37.	 Detective Walter Resende’s report dated November 29, 2000, contained in 

court case 200620326535, Pará state. 
38.	 Detective Walter Resende’s report dated November 29, 2000, contained in 

court case 200620326535, Pará state.
39.	 On the details of the arrest, Décio José Barroso Nunes’s testimony in the 

trial, April 29, 2014, court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
40.	 Termo de ratificação de separação consensual, processo 0460/00, Novem-

ber 17, 2000.
41.	 Décio José Barroso Nunes’s statement to the police, November 30, 2000. 
42.	 O Liberal, December 5, 2000.
43.	 On Brazil’s special treatment of college graduates, “Presos com diploma, a 

elite carcerária do Brasil,” El País, February 3, 2017. Nunes’s level of educa-
tion was provided by him to Resende.
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44.	 Description and interview based on O Liberal photographs published on 
December 2, 2000. 

45.	 Statement by Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias on April 23, 2019, in the verdict 
for court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará. 

46.	 Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias’s interview with the author.
47.	 Statement by Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias on April 23, 2019, in the verdict 

for court case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401, Pará.
48.	 Relatório, detective Walter Resende de Almeida, December 28, 2000. Court 

case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
49.	 Relatório, detective Walter Resende de Almeida, December 28, 2000. Court 

case 0000700-89.2000.814.0401.
50.	 Ruling of Judge Otávio Marcelino Maciel, on Habeas Corpus 7429, Decem-

ber 14, 2000. 
51.	 Justiça Desmoralizada, CPT, December 18, 2000.
52.	 Correio do Tocantins, December 5–9, 2000.
53.	 On the ranchers’ association, see Oficio SIRPA no. 06/2000, Rondon do 

Pará, December 3, 2000. On celebrations of Nunes’s release, see O Liberal, 
December 15, 2000. 

54.	 Correio do Tocantins, December 5–9, 2000.
55.	 On the second habeas corpus and the suspension of the investigations, see 

Oficio no. 261/2001-SCCR-HC, signed by Judge Otávio Marcelino Maciel, 
April 20, 2001. 

56.	 Of ício no. 072/03-GPT/IC, Centro de Perícia Centífica “Renato Chaves,” 
Belém, March 27, 2003.

57.	 O Liberal, December 17, 2000.

15: A Cause Larger Than Death
1.	 Rosemary Masters, Lucy N. Friedman, and George Getzel, “Helping Fami-

lies of Homicide Victims: A Multidimensional Approach,” Journal of Trau-
matic Stress 1, no. 1 (1988): 109–25. For a study of Brazilian victims, see 
Daniella Harth da Costa, Kathie Njaine, and Miriam Schenker, “Repercus-
sions of Homicide on Victims’ Families: A Literature Review,” Ciência & 
Saúde Coletiva 22, no. 9 (2017): 3087–97.

2.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
3.	 Joelminha’s interviews with the author.
4.	 Sue Branford and Jan Rocha, Cutting the Wire, 131.
5.	 Jornal do Brasil, December 13, 2001.
6.	 On Nunes’s claims, author’s interview with Humberto Feio Bulhousa, 

Nunes’s defense attorney at the time.
7.	 On the confronted demonstrations, see Jornal do Brasil, December 13, 2001. 

Also based on author’s interviews with Maria Joel, de Assis, and Batista.
8.	 Author’s interview with Francisco de Assis Solidade.
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9.	 Nota a Imprensa. Assassinado mais um sindicalista em Rondon do Pará. 
Signed by Sindicato dos Trabalhadores Rurais de Rondon do Pará, CPT, 
FETAGRI, and CUT. February 7, 2004.

10.	 Data from Oficio JG/RJ 294/04, November 30, 2004, contained in the file of 
the case of Dezinho at the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, 
Organization of American States. This issue will be discussed later in the 
book.

11.	 For instance, labor court cases 107-JCJ-00627/99. A judge would say that 
in Josélio’s fazendas, workers were treated “like animals.” Rule by Judge Rai-
mundo Itamar Lemos Fernandes Junior, June 25, 1999.

12.	 Jornal do Brasil, December 11, 2001.
13.	 Josélio de Barros Carneiro’s statement to the police on December 27, 2000, 

court case 0000700-89.2000.8.14.0046.
14.	 Imposto sobre propiedad territorial rural 2001, Fazenda Serra Morena, Min-

isterio da Fazenda, contained in ITERPA administrative processo 2002.96387.
15.	 Author’s interview with Sergeant Claudio Marino Ferreira Dias. Mr. Marino 

also provided this account in court on August 13, 2019, court case 0000700-
89.2000.814.0401, Pará.

16.	 Author’s interview with Francisco Martins da Silva Filho.
17.	 Jornal do Brasil, December 11, 2001. 
18.	 Jornal do Brasil, December 11, 2001.
19.	 Jornal do Brasil, December 11, 2001.
20.	 Idelma Santiago da Silva et al., Mulheres em perspectiva: trajetórias, saberes 

e resistências na Amazônia Oriental (Belém: Paka-Tatu, 2017).
21.	 Santiago da Silva et al., Mulheres em perspectiva, 76 and 96.
22.	 Vanessa Barbara, “Life as a Brazilian Woman,” New York Times, April 23, 

2014. Femicide rates from Shasta Darlington, “Domestic Abuse, Shown 
Blow by Blow, Shocks Brazil,” New York Times, August 7, 2018.

23.	 In 2014, for instance, twenty-one out of twenty-seven rural unions in south-
ern Pará were led by men, according to Santiago da Silva et al., Mulheres em 
perspectiva, 76 and 96. Also based on interviews with Maria de Jesus Silva 
Moura, former Workers’ Party leader and a victim of gender discrimination.

24.	 According to Ata da Assembléia Geral Extraordinaria, STR, August 9, 2002, 
this was a mandate for six months, but Maria Joel would be reelected in 
January 31, 2003, for a four-year term, according to Ata do IV Congresso do 
S.T.R. de Rondon do Pará.

25.	 Santiago da Silva et al., Mulheres em perspectiva, 101.

16: The Law of the Gun
1.	 See Atas 19, 22, and 23 of the reunião do comité de Decisão Regional do  

Incra/SR(27)MB, September 17 and November 25, 2002. Darwin Boerner Jr., 
at the time superintendent of INCRA in the region, declined to be inter-
viewed for this book.
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2.	 SEI SR-27/MBA 54600.002803/2002-39, INCRA.
3.	 On the INCRA funds, “Notícias do Sindicato,” Informativo do STTR de Ron-

don do Pará, Ano 1, no. 1, March 2008.
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13.	 Video recording of the jury trial, August 13, 2019, case number 0000700-
89.2000.814.0046.

14.	 State prosecutor Franklin interview with the author, and “Viúva de líder da 
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November 16, 2020.

15.	 Ruling by Judge Ronaldo Marques Valle, February 14, 2022, court case 
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18.	 On his unpaid taxes, see the federal public database (https://www.listade 

vedores.pgfn.gov.br/) and Pará’s Secretaria de Estado da Fazenda (https://
app.sefa.pa.gov.br/consulta-divida-ativa/#/). On the Fazenda Lacy, federal 
case 0006677-95.2012.4.01.3901, TRF1.

19.	 The environmental fines refer to IBAMA’s Auto de Infração ZAG04W12, 
GS3VJQ9I, JH40Y3XD, BWIF70UB. On the labor case, ruling by Judge 
Amanda Cristhian Mileo Gomes Mondença, November 8, 2021, ACPCiv 
0000301-15.2015.5.08.0117, TRT 8a Região.

20.	 On the transfer of ownership to R. C. Moreira Costa, the author cites in-
formation provided by the Ministry of the Economy of Brazil via Brazil's 
freedom of information law (case number 13035.100497/2021-42). Data on 
exports from Brazilian Beef Exporters Association (ABIEC). http://abiec 
.com.br/en/exports-consult/#.
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claimed the “right to privacy” in denying the author access to the investi-
gations Procedimentos de fiscalização e inspeção no. 21000.003278/2021-
41, 21000.003304/2021-31, 21000.044832/2020-60, 21000.065973/2020-16; 
Relatório de fiscalização no. 21000.003291/2021-09; Auto de Infração 
no. 21000.009034/2021-72, 21000.043115/2021-00, 21000.017251/2021-36, 
21000.080633/2020-15, 21000.076914/2020-73, 21000.060051/2020-12, 
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21000.079465/2019-81, 21000.042280/2019-11, 21000.048499/2018-43, 
21000.048499/2018-43. On the tax incentives from Pará state to the meat 
plant, see Diário Oficial April 12, 2019, number 33.850 and June 8, 2020, 
number 34.247.

22.	 Statement contained in the court case 0002843-13.2012.8.14.0046, Pará 
state.

23.	 Ruling by Judge Tainá Monteiro da Costa, March 17, 2022. Court case 
0800422-02.2021.8.14.0046, Pará state.

24.	 Data from CPT compiled by the author, 2017–2022.
25.	 On the environmental activists, see “IACHR and UN Human Rights Con-

demn Murders of Environmental Activists and Quilombolas in Brazil,” re-
lease 017/22, January 24, 2022.

26.	 Brasil de Fato, February 11, 2022.
27.	 Nathalie Butt et al., “The Supply Chain of Violence,” Nature Sustainability 

2, no. 886 (2019): 742–47.
28.	 Data from Brazil’s top electoral court. https://divulgacandcontas.tse.jus.br 

/divulga/#/candidato/2018/2022802018/PA/140000625297. 
29.	 Data on foreign trade, both general and agribusiness, compiled by the author 

from the databases of Comex Stat (comexstat.mdic.gov.br/pt/comex-vis) and 
the Ministry of Agriculture of Brazil (http://indicadores.agricultura.gov.br 
/agrostat/index.htm).

A Note on Sources
1.	 In a signed statement addressed to the court in Espírito Santo, Josélio had 

admitted to the murder of the two alleged hitmen about to kill his father 
in Baixo Guandu’s train station and the murder of Major Cavalcanti. The 
signed statement and the motion by his defense attorney, Mario Rocha, is in 
the files of court case 1.277/67, Vitória, Espírito Santo. According to the re-
port of detective Adonias Marques dos Santos, December 1975, in classified 
file ACE 3582/83, Josélio also admitted to have hired out the murders of Reis 
and Vieira, in the so-called chainsaw murder.




